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Jiang Zanchu

Nanjing is both a former capital and a historical and
6 000

vears of civilization, over 2 470 years of city construction, and

cultural city, with 500 000 years of human activity,
over 1 700 vears of capital establishment. It was the capital of
the Eastern Wu (229~280), the Eastern Jin (317~420), the
Song (420~479), the Qi (479~502), the Liang(502~557),
the Chen (557~589), the Southern Tang(937~975), the Ming
(1368~1644), the Taiping Heavenly Kingdom (1851~1864)
and Republican China(1912~1949), hence the Capital of the
Ten Dynasties. Even when the city was not a capital, it
occupied a key position in southeast China.

500 000 years ago, Nanjing Man lived at Tangshan in the
suburbs. In the Neolithic Age, five or six thousand years ago,
primitive tribes were scattered along the Qinhuai, Jinchuan
and Chu rivers; they created the earliest culture in the area.
By the Shang (1 500~1 000 BC) and the Western Zhou
(1 000~771 BC), villages of the Bronze Age, characterized by
Terrace Ruins, were densely distributed near the Qinhuai,
Jinchuan, Chu and Lishui, and around Xuanwu Lake. By the

(771~476 BC),

Eastern Zhou the present Nanjing area was
under the rule of the Wu, Yue and Chu, and Nanjing emerged
as an early city. By the Qin (221~206 BC) and Han (206
BC~AD 220), some county seats were established.

In the present Nanjing area, from the Eastern Zhou to the
Qin and Han, were eight cities or county seats, including the

cities of Yue and Jinling located in the present urban area,

the county seats of Moling, Danyang and Hushu by the middle

.
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reaches of the Qinhuai in present Jiangning District, the county
seat of Jiangcheng by the Yangtze in present Qixia District,
the county seat of Tangyi in present Liuhe District, the city of
Laizhu  (or Gucheng) in present Gaochun. There was also
Yecheng. a foundrv according to many scholars. Of the greatest
influence were Yue and Jinling.  Yue was established in 472
BC. fourth vear of King Yuanwang of the Eastern Zhou. It was
a fortress that Fan Li. Yue minister, had built on highlands by
the Qinhuai at the foot of Yuhuatai. With a perimeter of only
two lis, approximately lkm, it became a strategic position of
the Yue in its attack against the Chu, as it “controlled the
Qinhuai and Yangtze rivers”, and the earliest residential area,
as it was the center of Changganli. Later, Yue remained a
military height in the southern suburbs, and lived through the
middle Qing, until it became desolate in modern times. Because
of its weight, Yue was the starting—point of city construction.
In 333 BC, 36th vear of King Xianwang of the Eastern Zhou,
King Weiwang of the Chu defeated the Yue and captured the
area east of the Yangtze. The Chu established Jinling on
Shitoushan (Stone Hill. present Qingliangshan), and opened a
foundry. This was the first time that an administrative district
was established in the urban area, hence the ancient name of
Jinling for Nanjing. The well—preserved ruins were Gucheng of
Gaochun. Tt was the only city that flourished {rom the Eastern
Zhou to the Han dynasties under the administration of Nanjing,
and was one of the two Eastern Zhou cities in Jiangsu that
has remained from antiquity (the other being Yancheng of
Changzhou). hence its significance.

The Six Dynasties was a zenith in the history of city
construction.  In the fall of 229, first year of the Huanglong
reign of the Eastern Wu, Sun Quan moved his capital from
Wuchang (now Ezhou of Hubel) to Jianye (now Nanjing). By
records. Jianye had Jilongshan and Fuzhoushan on the north,
and depended on the jaws of Hou Lake (now Xuanwu Lake).
It was five lis from the bend of the lower Qinhuai on the

south  (now near Zhenhuaigiao), with the Qinhuai being its
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water defense line. It neighbored the Qingxi, which originated
from Zhongshan, acting as the moat of east Nanjing. It had the
Yundu on the west, connected to the Qinhuai and Hou Lake.
The city had a total perimeter of 20 lis, approximately 9km.
Its interior layout centered on the palace city. In early and
middle Eastern Wu, the city centered on the Taichu Palace
built with Sun Quan’s order, while in late Eastern Wu, it
centered on the Zhaoming Palace newly built with Sun Hao's
order. The central gate in south Jianye was called Xuanyang
Gate, also called the White Gate, two lis from the palace city
on the north, and five lis from Dahang (Zhuque Bridge) on
the Qinhuai on the south. On the north side of Dahang was
Zhuque Gate, the terminal of the 7-1i royal avenue. On both
sides of the avenue were green pagoda trees, laid with open
drains. The central yamens of the Eastern Wu stood on both
sides of the avenue. The residential areas were distributed along
the mouth sector of the Qinhuai, notably Changganli, Hengtang
and Zhaxia.

Outside Jianye, a series of surrounding fortresses were
built, notably the Stone City standing by the Yangtze. In addition,
several county seats in the Qin and Han dynasties also protected
Jianye to a certain degree: the city of Moling (after being
changed to Jianye County, the county seat of Moling moved to
the present urban area), the city of Hushu (already changed
to an agricultural county), the county seat of Danyang, and
the city of Jiangcheng by the Yangtze (already changed to an
agricultural county).

Jianye was the first capital city established in present
Nanjing, and laid the basis for Jiankang, which was to become
the capital of the Eastern Jin and the Southern Dynasties. Like
Yecheng, capital of the Wei, the layout of a broad royal avenue
centered on the palace city and the central yamens on both
sides of the avenue was creative in the development of ancient
capitals. while the practice of a series of surrounding fortresses

outside the capital was outstanding nationwide.

After the fall the Eastern of Wu, the Western Jin lasted

L3
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for over 30 vears. Sima

Rui,

With the death of Emperor Mindi,
King of Langva, who governed Jiankang, took the throne
in 317. and founded the Eastern Jin in Jiankang.

Jiankang at the time inherited the scale of Jianye, and at
the same time imitated the lavout of Luovang, capital of Wei.
The Yuancheng of the Eastern Wu was renovated into the

called the Terrace Citadel, as the nucleus of

Then.

Jiankang Palace,
the capital. before the Palace. a horizontal street was
opened from east to west.  which divided the capital into the
north and south sectors.  The former was the palatial garden,
and the latter was the royal avenue and the yamen area. From
Dasima Gate to the palace city. via Xuanyang Gate to Zhuque
Gate on the north side of the Qinhuai, was a 7-li royal avenue.
The central yamens were distributed mostly on the sides of the
avenue inside Xuanvang, while the Imperial Ancestral Temple
and the Altar stood on the east and west sides of the avenue
outside Xuanyang. This radically changed the irregular pattern
of Jianve. so that Jiankang took on a new look that combined

the styles of former north and south capitals. Later, it also

influenced the layout of Luovang, and Chang’an in the Sui
and Tang.

The Jiankang Palace during the two periods had a
perimeter of 8 lis or approximately 3.5km. The center of the
and the east and west halls

The

palace city was the Taiji Palace,
were w here the emperor heard from his ministers.
bedchambers of the concubines stood north of the Taiji Palace.
The palace walls was built by ramming the earth with tampers,
and not renovated into brick walls until 339, fifth vear of the
Xiankang reign of the Eastern Jin. A third wall was added to
the earlier walls in the Southern Dynasties, suggesting that

defense for the palace city was stressed.  The peripheral

fortresses continued to follow the practices of the Eastern Wu.

By the reign of Emperor Wudi (502~549) of the Liang,

Jiankang turned into the biggest city of China, with 280 000

households,  from the Stone City on the west, Nitang (near

present Fangshan. Jiangning District) on the east, Shizigang
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on the south and Jiangshan (i.e. Zhongshan) on the north, 40
lis to the four directions. However, following the rebellion during
the Houjing reign, Jiankang declined.

Jiankang was seriously damaged after the Sui defeated
Chen. Apart from the Stone City and a few other fortresses,
most of the city was devastated. The city and the palaces,
after the glory of the Six Dynasties, vanished. In the late 20th
and early this centurv,  archeologists discovered certain
architectural ruins of the Six Dynasties, in cooperation with
city construction,  most notably the ruins of a palace wall
sector on the southeast comer of the palace city and a
south—bound road. Although these findings were incomplete,
they compensated for inadequate data and modified the
previous claims about the location of the Jiankang Palace.

In the 300 years of the Sui and Tang. the rulers promoted
Jiangdu (now Yangzhou) and Runzhou (now Zhenjiang) at
the expense of Nanjing. Except for the Stone City, Nanjing did
not have a political center. Only after Yang Wu and the
Southern Tang began to rule Jinling was this situation improved.
Yang Wu built Shengzhou (renamed Jinlingfu in 920) three
times from 914 to 932. Thus, the new city of Jinling with a
perimeter of 25 lis (approximately 14km), incorporating the
10-1i Qinhuai, began to stand southwest of the present urban
area. In the Southern Tang, Jinling was the capital, called
Jiangningfu, and was strengthened.

Jinling began with South Gate (now Zhonghua Gate)
and ended with Beimenqiao (now south side of the Zhujiang
Road west sector), and began with outside Kast Gate (now
Dazhong Bridge) and ended with Longguang Gate (now Shuixi
Gate) and West Gate (now Hanzhong Gate). The moat consisted
of the present Outer Qinhuai, Qingxi, Simajian and Wulongtan.
The south half of the city wall and moat of Yang Wu and the
Southern Tang became the basis of that of the Ming.

The palace city was built at the center of the city, on the
east and wesl sides of present Hongwu Road, a perimeter of
1 500 paces.

approximately 2.33km. Zhonghua Road from

(3]
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present Nelqgiao to Zhonghua Gate was the royal avenue, and

its yamens stood on both its sides.

After the fall of the Southern Tang. Jinling continued to

be the capital of Jiangningfu. the national capital of the

Southern Song and the Jiging Road city of the Yuan. The

palace city continued to be the office of Jiangningfu of the

Northern Song,

the summer residence of emperors of the
Southern Song and the office of the Censorate. Jinling of Yang
Wu and the Southern Tang contributed considerably to city
construction.

The Ming was the second zenith of city construction.

The city consisted of four parts: the outer wall, the capital

proper. the royal area. and the palace city. Tt was the largest

city in China and even in the world as it included the capitals

of all previous dynasties and the military positions of

Zhongshan.  Mufushan and Yuhuatai. The earliest was the

palace city and the roval area at the south foot of

Longguangshan (now Fuguishan), an extension of Zhongshan,
which started construction in 1366, 26th year of the Zhizheng
reign of the Yuan. It was chosen as a treasure of fengshui by
Zhu Yuanzhang and Liu Ji his minister. It neighbored the
Qinhuai on the south, had Zhongshan as its screen on the east
and north. and was connected to Jinling of the Southern Tang,
Song and Yuan dynasties.

also the or Grand

The palace city, Forbidden City

Interior, was approximately 0.95km from north to south, and

approximately 0.75km from east to west, with a perimeter of

approximately 3.4km. Tt had four gates: Wumen Gate on the

south,  with the Inner Wulong Bridge north of the gate,

Donghua Gate on the east, Xihua Gate on the west, and

Xuanwu Gate on the north.  Along the north—south axis were

the Fengtian, Huagai and Jinshen palaces, the front court.

Inside Qianging Gate were the Qianging, Shenggong and

Kunning palaces. called the bedchambers. On the east side of

the axis were the Wenlou, Wenhua, Fengxian, Rouyi and

Dongliu palaces.  and on its west side were the Wulou,
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Wuyving, Chunhe and Xiliu palaces. Only Wumen Gate, Inner

Wulong Bridge. Donghua Gate and Xihua Gate, as well as
Fengtian Gate and some plinths of the three palaces, remain
today. As the Ming palace was the original version of the
Imperial Palace. its various ruins, surrounded by rivers, were
one of the important historical and cultural resources.

The royal city was approximately 2.5km long from north
to south and approximately 2km wide from east to west, with a
perimeter of around 9km. It began on the south with the
intersection of Daguang Road (inside present Guanghua Gate)
and Yudao Street, and ended on the north near Foxin Bridge
north of present Houzhai Gate, and began with Qingxi Road
inside present Zhongshan Gate and ended with the east side of
that is,

present Yixian Bridge: the area within the Ming

palace. The axis of the royal city began with Hongwu Gate
inside present Guanghua Gate on the south, via Outer Wulong
Bridge, Chengtian Gate, Duan Gate, 1o Wu Gale, the central
gate to the palace city. On both sides of the royal avenue from
Hongwu to Chengtian, a covered corridor was built, called the
1 000-pace corridor. On its east side stood five departments:
Official Personnel, Revenue, Rites, War and Works (Penalty
was outside Taiping Gate), and on its west side stood the military
governor's offices.  On the east and west sides of the avenue
from Chengtian to Wu, the Imperial Ancestral Temple and
the Altar were built. The gate to the roval city was Dong an
Gate on the east, Xi'an Gate on the west. and Bei’an Gate
on the north.  Only Outer Wulong Bridge before Xi’an and
Chengtian remains.

The body of the Ming capital was the city proper, also
called Yingtianfu or Inner City. It started construction in 1366,
when the roval city and the palace city were being built, and
the major gates were not completed until 1386, 19th year of
the Hongwu reign.

33.676km long,
bottom and 4~9m for its top, and a height of 14 to 21m. 200

The so-—called 96-1i wall was actually

with a width of approximately 14m for its

shacks (fortresses) were set up on the terrace, with 13 616

.
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Survey

crenels.  Slabs were used as the basis of the wall. laid then
with big wall bricks, usually 40~45¢m long, approximately 20¢m
wide and approximately 10 em thick.  According 1o the brick
inscriptions, the producers included nearly 200 prefectures,
Hubei,

counties and townships of present Hunan, Jiangxi,

Anhui and Jiangsu. as well as the Ministry of Works and
garrisons. As 1l was an immense project, many artisans were
recruited from all over the country to build the c¢ity,  whose
costs were shared by the dynasty and the rich south of the
Yangtze. 13 gatex were buill, three on the south. Zhengyang
{now Guanghua Gate), Tongji and Jubao (now Zhonghua
Gate ). one on the east, Chaoyang (now Zhongshan Gate), one
on the northeast.  Taiping. two on the north. Shence (now
Heping Gate) and Jinchuan. In addition, at the east foot of
Shizishan.  Zhongfu Gate was built, called Minor East Gate;
opposite Zhongfu was Yifeng al the west foot of Shizishan. On
the west.  four gates were designed:  Dinghuai.  Qingliang,
Shicheng (now Hanzhong Gate) and Sanshan. Of all these,
Jubao. Sanshan and Tongji had three jar—gates (i.e. a total of
four gates), differing from the conventional ones only in that
these jar—gates stood inside the front gate, probably because
they were too close to the Qinhuai. Zhengyang had two jar—gates
(i.e. a total of three gates).  Only Shence had its jar—gates
outside the gate. and there was a gate each on the left and on
the right. For that reason, the inner jar—gates at Jubao and outer
Jar—gates at Shence, including soldier shelters inside the jar—gates
al Jubao. are important ancient city gate ruins.

When the city wall and moat of the Southern Tang, Song
and Yuan dynasties were used in the city southwest, the new
city areas outside the royal city on the east and along the
Outer Qinhuai and Xuanwu Lake on the north were built using
natural hills and water systems, connected and acting as the
basis of the city wall and moat. Thus, an irregular city shape
emerged. It was a creative mode adjusted to local conditions,
which

and broke off the tradition of building a4 square city,

occupied a unique position of city construction.
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e Chiaem of Nanjing

In terms of functional zoning of the city interior, the city
east was the new roval city, the city south. where old Jinling
was. remained an industrial, commercial and residential zone,
and the city north was a sparsely—populated military zone. The
natural center of the citv proper, i.e., the area at the south
foot of Jilongshan had a small area devoted 1o an ancestral
temple and a school. This practice was also rare in the previous
capitals.

In 1390. 23rd year of the Hongwu reign, Zhu Yuanzhang
ordered 1o have the outer wall built to strengthen the defense
of the capital. The so-called “180-1i wall was actually 60km
long. neighboring the Yangtze on the west and north, and
mountains on the east and south. The important heights,
Mufushan. Zhongshan. Yuhuatai, and so forth, were all kept
inside the outer wall: it was a first—timer in the history of city
construction.  However. the wall took advantage of hills and
hillocks and were built with earth and stone, known as the
earth wall:  bricks were applied only on sections of strategic
significance. It was generally believed that there were 18 gates
(16 according to others). We believe in 18 gates: Yaofang
(now Yachua), Xianhe. Qilin, Cangbo, Gaoqiao, Shangfang,
Jiagang, Fengtai. Da Ande, Xiao Ande, Da Xunxiang, Xiao
Xunxiang, Jiangdong, Zhalan, Outer Jinchuan, Shangyuan,
Foning and Guanyin.  Although these gates no longer exist,
they are important coordinates of the outer section of present
Nanjing, and they remain in place names today.

After the fall of the Ming. Nanjing was not destroyed.
The Qing renamed Yingtianfu into Jiangningfu,  and it
remained a vital position in the southeast, the seat of the
Governor of Jiangsu. Jiangxi and Anhui and General
Jiangning.

Before the Taiping Heavenly Kingdom, the major change
of the city wall was that the roval city of the Ming was made
the garrison city of the Eight Banners, also called the
Manchurian City. It began on the south with Tongji and

Zhengyang.  and ended on the north with Taiping Gate,

Survey
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approximately 3km long from north to south and approximately
2km wide from east to west. It had four gates: two west gates,
one east gate and one south gate.  One of the west gates was

rebuilt on the former site of Xi’an Gate, opposite Xuanjin

Bridge (a stone bridge somewhat south of present Yixian
Bridge).  General Jiangning’s Office was near Xi'an Gate.

The

The other west gate was east of present Dazhong Bridge.

east gate was Chaoyang, and the south gate was Zhengvang.

In addition,  Qingliang and Shence were closed down, and

Dinghuai was reopened.  (In the Yongle reign of the Ming,

Jinchuan was closed down. followed by Zhongfu and
Dinghuai)
In 1853, 3rd vear of the Xianfeng reign. the Taiping

Peasants captured Jiangningfu and used it as the capital,
renaming it to Tianjing. Great changes were also made to its
defense facilities. All the city gates were made smaller, to allow
single entries. The sectors of the Terrace Citadel at Hou Lake
and elsewhere were made higher. Deep trenches were added
outside the city wall.  Earth piles were made inside the wall,

and at the foot of the piles, deep trenches were dug, and

suspension bridges became passageways. A small south gate
was opened, believed to be at the gap of the wall sector from
present Shuixi Gate to Saihonggiao. Over 10 fortresses were
established with earth walls and deep trenches, within the
limits of the Ming outer wall. The most important forts with
present ruins were Tianbao and Dibao. The two forts echoed
each other: they were of the greatest strategic significance,
fortresses for the city wall near Taiping Gate.

The central structure in Tianjing was the Heavenly King-
dom palace (usually the Emperor’s Palace), which included
Jixiang Street (now Daxinggong) on the south, the Yang Wu
moat (now Taiping Bridge West) on the north, Lijixiang and
Dongjiandao to Huangjiatang on the east, and Xijiandao on

the west. with a perimeter of almost Skm. The palace was

divided into the outer and inner sections, called Taiyangcheng

and Jinlongcheng respectively. A garden was built on their
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east side, and the other on their west side; the west garden
had a pool and a stone boat, open to toursts.

After the fall of the Heavenly Kingdom, the Qing restored
the early settings. It renovated the city wall destroyed in the
war, and added Wengcheng outside Chaoyang Gate, opened
Caochang, Fengrun (now Xuanwu Gate) and Xiaobei (on the
west side of Zhongfu Bridge between Shence CGate and
Jinchuan Gate). and reopened Jinchuan for small trains.

Republican China. founded in 1912, took Nanjing as its
capital. However. the three months of administration did not
influence the city much. From Aprnl 1927 to April 1949, the
Nationalist Government continued to use Nanjing as the capital,
and the capital city of Jiangsu. The city changed much, the
road system and buildings, in particular Dr Sun Yat-sen's
Mausoleum and the new shopping center of Xinjiekou. The
Capital Construction Committee released the Capital Construction
Program in 1929, and divided Nanjing into the Political,
Administrati ve, Industrial, Commercial, Educational and
Residential Zones. It mapped out the avenue system, railway
network, and airport, represented by Zhongshan Avenue, from
Zhongshan Quay. via Yijiang Gate, Sanpailou, Gulou,
Xinjiekou, Daxinggong, Zhongshan Gate, to Dr Sun Yat-sen’s
Mausoleum. Unfortunately, the entire program was not applied.

Six gates were opened In the city wall: Hailing (opened
in 1921 and later renamed Yijiang Gate). Yuhua (opened in
1926) for small train traffic, Wuding (opened in 1929),
Hanzhong and Xinmin (both opened in 1931) and Zhongyang
(opened in 1933). In addition, the biggest project was
Chaoyang Gate being changed to Zhongshan Gate in 1931,
from a single gate to a triple gate, supported with a low
foundation, to be leveled with Zhongshan Avenue.

In the early days of the People’s Republic (1949~), the
unique historical and cultural connotations of the Ming city
wall was inadequately understood for a long time, so that the
practice was popular of taking bricks out of it to build simple

houses. The city wall reduced in perimeter. from 33.676km to



